LEE, KYU SANG, Ph.D., May 2024

Dissertation Advisor: Mikhail Chebotar

In this dissertation, we study the McCoy properties. The first part of this dissertation concerns the effect on the condition of σ -compatibility or σ -semicompatibility to skew McCoy rings. We first show that for any semicommutative right (or left) artinian ring which is σ -semicompatible with an epimorphism σ , its Jacobson radical is σ -skew McCoy. From this fact, we see that the Jacobson radical of semicommutative artinian rings is always right McCoy. Also, we provide a general sufficient condition for σ -compatible semicommutative rings to be σ -skew McCoy. We also prove that σ -compatible right duo rings are σ -skew McCoy. Moreover, we show that for any σ -compatible regular ring, the properties of the σ -skew McCoy and the right McCoy are equivalent.

In the second part of this dissertation, we consider skew Camillo rings. We prove that every σ -compatible 2-primal ring is σ -skew Camillo. As a corollary, we get that σ -compatible semicommutative rings are σ -skew Camillo. Also, we investigate the relationships between semicommutative, matrix rings and linearly σ -skew Camillo rings.

In the third part of this dissertation, we focus on the McCoy property in the setting of Ore extensions. We show that the Jacobson radical of (σ, δ) -compatible right duo, local left (or right) artinian rings is (σ, δ) -skew McCoy. We also prove that if the group ring $K[Q_8]$ (where K is a field of characteristic 0 and Q_8 is the quaternion group with order 8) is (σ, δ) -compatible with a tracial σ -derivation δ , then $K[Q_8]$ is (σ, δ) -skew McCoy if and only if there exists no solution in K for the equation $1 + x^2 + y^2 = 0$.

ON SOME PROPERTIES OF SKEW MCCOY RINGS

A dissertation submitted to Kent State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

by

Kyu Sang Lee

May 2024

© Copyright

All rights reserved

Except for previously published materials

Dissertation written by

Kyu Sang Lee

B.S., Kyungpook National University, 2018

M.A., Kent State University, 2021

Ph.D., Kent State University, 2024

Approved by

Mikhail Chebotar , Chair, Doctoral Dissertation Committee

Feodor Dragan , Members, Doctoral Dissertation Committee

Jenya Soprunova

Lei Xu

Artem Zvavitch

Accepted by

Andrew M. Tonge , Chair, Department of Mathematical Sciences

Mandy Munro-Stasiuk , Dean, College of Arts and Sciences

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS iv				
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS				
1	Introduction	. 1		
	1.1 Definitions and preliminaries	. 1		
	1.2 Overview	. 6		
	1.3 Notations	. 8		
2	Skew McCoy rings	. 9		
	2.1 Semicommutative rings	. 9		
	2.2 Duo rings	. 16		
	2.3 Reversible rings	. 18		
	2.4 Regular rings	. 19		
3	Skew Camillo rings	. 23		
	3.1 2-primal rings	. 24		
	3.2 Linearly skew Camillo rings	. 27		
4	McCoy property on Ore extensions	. 30		
	4.1 (σ, δ) -skew nil-McCoy rings	. 30		
	4.2 (σ, δ) -skew McCoy property on Jacobson radicals	. 36		
	4.3 Tracial σ -derivations	. 38		
	4.4 An application to group rings	. 40		
BIBLIOGRAPHY 43				

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my deep gratitude to my advisor, Mikhail Chebotar, for his kind guidance and sincere help. I will never forget his warm advice and support.

Next, I wish to thank the members of my defense committee, Feodor Dragan, Jenya Soprunova, Lei Xu, and Artem Zvavitch, for taking their valuable time.

Also, I would like to thank the department of mathematical sciences at Kent State University. In particular, I will never forget their kindness of the graduate coordinator: Artem Zvavitch, the retired office staff: Patty Housley, and the active office staff: Virginia Wright, Melanie Hardy Neuzil, and Mckenzie Marchand.

Additionally, I am thankful for the kindness shown to me by Pastor Choi and his wife, as well as by Mr. Yang and his wife. Also, thank you to my friends, Dylan and Jooyoung, for the wonderful memories we have shared.

Finally and most importantly, I am grateful to my wife, Hyejin, for her support and help from the beginning of this process until now. Without her, I would not have been able to complete my studies. I am also grateful to my parents and sister for their constant support and encouragement. Also, I am grateful for the support and prayers from my parents-in-law and sister-in-law during my studies. I will always remember the support from my family that has given me so much strength.

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

In 1942, N. H. McCoy showed that if a ring R is commutative and a polynomial $f(x) \in R[x]$ is a zero-divisor, then it has a nonzero annihilator in R [32, Theorem 2]. But, this result may fail without the assumption of commutativity on R. For example [20], let $R := M_2(\mathbb{C})$ be the ring of 2×2 matrices over the field of complex numbers \mathbb{C} and take

$$f(x) = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} x.$$

Then we can see that for any $r \in R$, f(x)r = 0 implies r = 0. However, if we take

$$g(x) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} x,$$

then f(x)g(x) = 0. We note that $M_2(\mathbb{C})$ is not commutative. This example says that the condition of commutativity in the McCoy Theorem is essential. Up to now, the McCoy theorem has been generalized in many different ways. We first review those attempts.

1.1 Definitions and preliminaries

Throughout this dissertation, we regard R as an associative ring with identity.

Following Nielsen [34], a ring R is said to be right McCoy (resp., left McCoy) if for any two polynomials $f(x), g(x) \in R[x] \setminus \{0\}$ with f(x)g(x) = 0,

there exists a nonzero element $r \in R$ such that f(x)r=0 (resp., rg(x)=0).

If a ring R satisfies both right and left McCoy, then R is called McCoy. The McCoy rings have been widely researched and the relationships with various rings have been discovered. We introduce several classes of rings closely related to McCoy ring:

A ring R is called Armendariz [37] if for any two polynomials $f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i$ and $g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x]$ satisfying f(x)g(x) = 0, we have $a_i b_j = 0$ for any $0 \le i \le m$ and $0 \le j \le n$;

reduced if there exists no nonzero nilpotent element in R; reversible if ab = 0 implies ba = 0for every $a, b \in R$; semicommutative if ab = 0 implies aRb = 0 for every $a, b \in R$; polynomial semicommutative if R[x] is semicommutative.

Then we can see the following well-known implications between these classes of rings (see for example [8]):

$$reduced \implies \begin{cases} reversible \implies \begin{cases} McCoy; \\ semicommutative. \end{cases}$$
$$reduced \implies \\ polynomial semicommutative \implies \begin{cases} McCoy; \\ semicommutative. \end{cases}$$
$$Armendariz \implies McCoy. \end{cases}$$

We denote an endomorphism of R by σ and a σ -derivation of R by δ , which is an additive map δ of R satisfying $\delta(ab) = \delta(a)b + \sigma(a)\delta(b)$. We also denote a skew polynomial ring with the usual addition and multiplication defined by $xr = \sigma(r)x$ for all $r \in R$ as $R[x;\sigma]$. According to [10], a ring R is called σ -skew McCoy if for any two polynomials $f(x), g(x) \in R[x;\sigma] \setminus \{0\}$ with f(x)g(x) = 0,

there exists a nonzero element $r \in R$ such that f(x)r = 0. (1.1)

Also, a ring R is said to be *linearly* σ -skew McCoy if we restrict degrees of both f(x) and g(x) not to be greater than 1 in the equation (1.1). The study of σ -skew McCoy rings has been extensively done by many authors (for example, [1], [2], [3], [10], [12], [35], [36], [38], [40], [41], [42]).

We also denote an Ore extension with the usual addition and multiplication defined by $xr = \sigma(r)x + \delta(r)$ for all $r \in R$ as $R[x;\sigma;\delta]$. Following [16], a ring R is called (σ, δ) -skew McCoy if for any two polynomials

$$f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i \quad \text{and} \quad g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x;\sigma;\delta] \setminus \{0\}$$

with f(x)g(x) = 0, there exists a nonzero element $r \in R$ such that $a_i x^i r = 0$ for all $0 \le i \le m$. In the property of (σ, δ) -skew McCoy, if $\delta = 0_R$ (i.e., the zero mapping), then (σ, δ) -skew McCoy becomes σ -skew McCoy, and further if both $\delta = 0_R$ and $\sigma = I_R$ (i.e., the identity mapping), then it becomes right McCoy.

On the other hand, many authors have considered an endomorphism σ with certain conditions. We here review these endomorphisms: an endomorphism σ of a ring R is said to be *rigid* [26] if

$$a\sigma(a) = 0 \implies a = 0 \text{ for any } a \in R,$$

and a ring R is called σ -rigid if there exists a rigid endomorphism σ of R. Also, a ring R is called right (resp., left) σ -reversible [9] if

$$ab = 0 \implies b\sigma(a) = 0 \text{ (resp., } \sigma(b)a = 0) \text{ for any } a, b \in R,$$

and R is called σ -reversible if it satisfies both right and left σ -reversible. A ring R is called σ compatible ([5], [17]) if

$$ab = 0 \iff a\sigma(b) = 0$$
 for any $a, b \in R$,

and is called δ -compatible if

$$ab = 0 \implies a\delta(b) = 0 \text{ for any } a, b \in R.$$

Furthermore, R is called (σ, δ) -compatible if it satisfies both σ -compatible and δ -compatible. Considering the property of a module homomorphism, i.e., $\sigma(ab) = a\sigma(b)$, in general, this property does not satisfy the condition that $a\sigma(b) = 0 \Rightarrow ab = 0$. From the fact, we would like to give a weaker condition than σ -compatibility: Let σ be an endomorphism of a ring R. Then we say that R is σ -semicompatible if

$$ab = 0 \implies a\sigma(b) = 0$$
 for any $a, b \in R$.

The following relations among these several endomorphism conditions are useful.

Proposition 1.1.1. Let σ be an endomorphism of a ring R.

- (a) If R is σ -semicompatible reversible and σ is a monomorphism, then R is σ -compatible.
- (b) If R is σ -semicompatible reduced and σ is a monomorphism, then R is σ -rigid.
- (c) If R is reversible, then R is right σ -reversible if and only if R is σ -semicompatible.

- *Proof.* (a) Suppose $a\sigma(b) = 0$ for $a, b \in R$. But since R is reversible and σ -semicompatible, we have $\sigma(b)a = 0$ and $\sigma(ba) = 0$. Then by a monomorphism σ , we get ba = 0, which implies ab = 0.
 - (b) Let $a\sigma(a) = 0$ for $a \in R$. Since R is reduced, R is reversible. Thus $\sigma(a)a = 0$. By σ semicompatibility and a monomorphism σ , $\sigma(a^2) = 0$, and hence $a^2 = 0$. But since R is
 reduced, a = 0.
 - (c) Assume R is right σ-reversible and let ab = 0 for a, b ∈ R. Then by reversibility, ba = 0.
 Since R is right σ-reversible, aσ(b) = 0. Conversely, suppose R is σ-semicompatible and let ab = 0 for a, b ∈ R. By reversibility, ba = 0, which implies bσ(a) = 0 by σ-semicompatibility.

However, we cannot guarantee that σ -semicompatibility implies σ -compatibility. It may fail even in the case of commutative rings. For example, we can see that there exists a σ -semicompatible commutative ring which is not σ -compatible.

Example 1.1.2. Take $R := \mathbb{Z}_6[x]$ and define an endomorphism σ of R by

$$\sigma \colon f(x) \mapsto f(0). \tag{1.2}$$

Clearly, R is commutative. But since \mathbb{Z}_6 is reduced, it is Armendariz. Then we have

$$f(x)g(x) = 0 \implies f(x)g(0) = 0 \implies f(x)\sigma(g(x)) = 0,$$

which implies that R is σ -semicompatible. However, R is not σ -compatible. To see this, let

$$f(x) = 2$$
 and $g(x) = 3 + x$.

Then $f(x)\sigma(g(x)) = 0$, but $f(x)g(x) = 2x \neq 0$.

In this example, we note that Z_6 is cyclic. Thus, we may ask whether there exists a non-cyclic example. In fact, the answer to this question is affirmative. To see this, take

$$R := (\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2)[x].$$

Note that $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ is non-cyclic commutative and reduced. If we define an endomorphism σ of R as in (1.2), we can see that R is σ -semicompatible by the same method in Example 1.1.2. However, R is not σ -compatible. Indeed, take

$$f(x) = (0, 1) + (0, 1)x$$
 and $g(x) = (1, 0) + (0, 1)x$.

Then

$$f(x)\sigma(g(x)) = f(x)g(0) = ((0, 1) + (0, 1)x)(1, 0) = (0, 0),$$

but

$$f(x)g(x) = (0, 1)x + (0, 1)x^2 \neq (0, 0).$$

Further, we can also see that there exists a ring which is σ -semicompatible for some nontrivial endomorphism σ , but not σ -compatible for any endomorphism σ other than the identity map.

Example 1.1.3. Let $R := \mathbb{Z}_2[x]$ and I be the ideal generated by x^2 . Take

$$S := R/I$$

If we regard the elements of $\mathbb{Z}_2[x]$ as their images in the quotient ring S, then we have

$$S = \{0, 1, x, x+1\}.$$

For an endomorphism σ of S, if we take

$$\sigma(x) := 1 \quad \text{or} \quad x+1,$$

then

$$0 = \sigma(x^2) = \sigma(x)\sigma(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{(if } \sigma(x) := 1) \\ (x+1)^2 = 1 & \text{(if } \sigma(x) := x+1), \end{cases}$$

which is a contradiction. Therefore, for an endomorphism σ to be well-defined, we must assign $\sigma(x)$ to one of the elements 0 and x. If $\sigma(x) = x$, then σ becomes the identity map. For the case of

$$\sigma(x) = 0, \tag{1.3}$$

the endomorphism σ is clearly not injective, which implies that there exists no monomorphism of S other than the identity map. But since all endomorphisms satisfying the compatible condition must be injective, we can say that there does not exist any endomorphism σ of S, except for the identity map, satisfying that S is σ -compatible. However, if we take (1.3), we can see that S is σ -semicompatible. To see this, we must check that for any $s_1, s_2 \in S$,

$$s_1s_2 = 0 \implies s_1\sigma(s_2) = 0$$

But the only case that $s_1s_2 = 0$ in S is $s_1 = s_2 = x$. Thus, it suffices to show that $x\sigma(x) = 0$, which is indeed true by our choice (1.3), Therefore, S is σ -semicompatible.

From these examples above, the condition of σ -semicompatibility may be a slightly more useful than that of σ -compatibility in the ring-theoretic aspect. Throughout this dissertation, we place a emphasis on the roles of both σ -semicompatibility and σ -compatibility in the McCoy property.

1.2 Overview

The structure of this dissertation is as follows:

In Chapter 2, we focus on the relations between the σ -skew McCoy condition and several types of rings, for example, semicommutative, duo, reversible, and regular rings. We first note that the Jacobson radical of a ring does not need to be right McCoy (see Example 2.1.1). However, we get a positive result for semicommutative artinian rings. The first main theorem of Chapter 2 is a generalization of this result to the σ -skew McCoy property: more concretely, for a σ -semicompatible semicommutative right (or left) artinian ring R with an epimorphism σ , the Jacobson radical J(R)is σ -skew McCoy [28]. Therefore, it follows that the Jacobson radical of semicommutative artinian rings is right McCoy. On the other hand, it was shown [11, Theorem 8.2] that right duo rings are right McCoy. By contrast, right duo rings need not be σ -skew McCoy. However, as the second main theorem of Chapter 2, we show that if R is σ -compatible right duo, then R is σ -skew McCoy [28]. The third main theorem of Chapter 2 concerns the connection between (von Neumann) regular rings and σ -skew McCoy rings. We here prove that for a σ -compatible regular ring R, R is right McCoy if and only if R is σ -skew McCoy [28].

In Chapter 3, we study the property of (linearly) σ -skew Camillo rings. We recall [8] that a ring R is called *right Camillo* (resp., *left Camillo*) if for any two polynomials $f(x), g(x) \in R[x] \setminus \{0\}$ with f(x)g(x) = 0, there exists a nonzero element $r \in R$ such that f(x)r = 0 or g(x)r = 0 (resp., rf(x) = 0 or rg(x) = 0), and R is called *Camillo* if it is both left and right Camillo. We say that a ring R is σ -skew Camillo if for any two polynomials $f(x), g(x) \in R[x; \sigma] \setminus \{0\}$ with f(x)g(x) = 0,

there exists a nonzero element
$$r \in R$$
 such that $f(x)r = 0$ or $g(x)r = 0$. (1.4)

Moreover, R is called *linearly* σ -skew Camillo if we restrict degrees of both f(x) and g(x) not to be greater than 1 in the equation (1.4). We recall that a ring R is called 2-primal if the prime radical of R is the same as the set of nilpotent elements in R. Then it is well-known (see [8]) that

semicommutative
$$\implies$$
 2-primal \implies Camillo. (1.5)

The second implication was proven by V. Camillo and P. Nielsen [11, Theorem 9.2]. The main theorem of Chapter 3 extends this theorem: σ -compatible 2-primal rings are σ -skew Camillo [29]. Also, we prove that σ -semicompatible semicommutative rings are linearly σ -skew Camillo [28] and that matrix rings over a division ring are linearly σ -skew Camillo for every endomorphism σ [28].

Basically, Chapter 4 is based on [30]. In this chapter, we introduce a (σ, δ) -skew nil-McCoy property, and then show that (σ, δ) -compatible right duo rings are (σ, δ) -skew nil-McCoy (see Theorem 4.1.3). As an application of this result, the main theorem of Chapter 4 is that for any (σ, δ) -compatible right duo, local left (or right) artinian ring R, the Jacobson radical J(R) is (σ, δ) skew McCoy (see Theorem 4.2.2). Also, we introduce a notion of tracial σ -derivation, and then prove that if R is a (σ, δ) -compatible regular ring with a tracial σ -derivation δ , then R is reversible if and only if R is (σ, δ) -skew McCoy (see Theorem 4.3.2). We also give an interesting corollary about a group ring: if K is a field of characteristic 0 and the group ring $K[Q_8]$ (where Q_8 is the quaternion group) is (σ, δ) -compatible with a tracial σ -derivation δ , then $K[Q_8]$ is (σ, δ) -skew McCoy if and only if there exists no solution in K for the equation $1 + x^2 + y^2 = 0$ (see Corollary 4.4.1).

1.3 Notations

In this dissertation, we write:

R	an associative ring with identity
σ	an endomorphism of ${\cal R}$
δ	a σ -derivation of R
R[x]	the ring of polynomials over R
$R[x;\sigma]$	the ring of skew polynomials over ${\cal R}$
$R[x;\sigma;\delta]$	an Ore extension over R
P(R)	the prime radical of R
J(R)	the Jacobson radical of ${\cal R}$
N(R)	the set of nilpotent elements in R
$Nil^*(R)$	the upper nilradical of R
coeff(f(x))	the set of all coefficients in $f(x)$
$\deg(f(x))$	the degree of $f(x)$
$M_n(R)$	the ring of n×n matrices over R
$R_1\oplus R_2$	the direct sum of two rings R_1 and R_2
Z_n	the ring of residue classes modulo \boldsymbol{n}

CHAPTER 2

Skew McCoy rings

In this chapter, we study the σ -skew McCoy property for semicommutative, duo, reversible, and regular rings. Chapter 2 is basically based on [28], while Example 2.1.1 and Problem 2.1.8, Lemma 2.1.9, Corollary 2.1.10 can be found in [30] and [29], respectively. First, we show that if R is a σ -semicompatible semicommutative right (or left) artinian ring with an epimorphism σ , then the Jacobson radical J(R) is σ -skew McCoy (see Theorem 2.1.6). From this result, we get that the Jacobson radical of semicommutative artinian rings is right McCoy. Second, we prove that every σ -compatible right duo ring is σ -skew McCoy (see Theorem 2.2.2). Lastly, we show that if R is a σ -compatible regular ring, then R is σ -skew McCoy if and only if R is right McCoy (see Theorem 2.4.1).

2.1 Semicommutative rings

We recall that a ring R is said to be *semicommutative* if ab = 0 implies aRb = 0 for every $a, b \in R$. It was proven [18, Theorem 2.2] that if R is polynomial semicommutative, then R is right McCoy. But in general, semicommutative rings are not right McCoy [34, Section 3], and hence we do not expect it to be σ -skew McCoy. However, it was shown [16, Theorem 3.11] that σ -compatible semicommutative rings are linearly σ -skew McCoy. We first observe the semicommutative rings under the condition of σ -semicompatibility.

On the other hand, we note that the Jacobson radical of a ring does not need to be right McCoy as we can see in the following example.

Example 2.1.1. Let R := K[[x]] be the ring of formal power series over a field K. Note that the Jacobson radical J(R) = the set of formal power series with zero constant term. If we take

$$S := \begin{pmatrix} R & 0 \\ R & R \end{pmatrix},$$

then we note that

$$J(S) = \begin{pmatrix} J(R) & 0\\ R & J(R) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Now, let

$$f(X) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & -x \end{pmatrix} X \text{ and } g(X) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} x & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} X \in J(S)[X].$$

Then

$$f(X)g(X) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & -x \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} X \\ + \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & -x \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} X^2 = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ x & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -x & 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} X = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

but we can see that if f(X)r = 0, where $r := \begin{pmatrix} a(x) & 0 \\ b(x) & c(x) \end{pmatrix} \in J(S)$, then

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a(x) & 0 \\ b(x) & c(x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ a(x) & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & -x \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a(x) & 0 \\ b(x) & c(x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ a(x) - xb(x) & -xc(x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

which implies a(x) = b(x) = c(x) = 0, i.e., there does not exist any nonzero element $r \in J(S)$ such that f(X)r = 0. Therefore, J(S) is not right McCoy.

Thus, we do not expect that the Jacobson radical of a ring is McCoy. However, the result is affirmative for semicommutative artinian rings. To see this, we need the following lemmas.

Lemma 2.1.2. Let R be a σ -semicompatible semicommutative ring and let $f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i$ and $g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x; \sigma]$ satisfying f(x)g(x) = 0. Then

$$a_i \sigma^i(b_0^{i+1}) = 0 \quad \text{for all } 0 \le i \le m.$$
 (2.1)

Proof. We apply the technique of the proofs in [34, Lemma 1] and [10, Lemma 8(2)]. When i = 0, clearly $a_0b_0 = 0$. Now, suppose by induction that $a_i\sigma^i(b_0^{i+1}) = 0$ for all i < k. From f(x)g(x) = 0, the coefficient of the term with degree k is 0, i.e.,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{k} a_j \sigma^j(b_{k-j}) = 0.$$
(2.2)

Also, we have $a_i \sigma^i(b_0^k) = 0$ for all i < k, and then it follows from the condition of σ -semicompatibility that $a_i \sigma^k(b_0^k) = 0$ for all i < k. But since R is semicommutative, we get

$$a_i \sigma^i(b_{k-i}) \sigma^k(b_0^k) = 0$$
 for all $i < k$.

Multiplying both sides of (2.2) by $\sigma^k(b_0^k)$ on the right, we get

$$\sum_{j=0}^{k} a_j \sigma^j(b_{k-j}) \sigma^k(b_0^k) = a_k \sigma^k(b_0) \sigma^k(b_0^k) = a_k \sigma^k(b_0^{k+1}) = 0.$$

This completes the induction step, and hence we are done.

Note that Lemma 2.1.2 may be false without the condition of σ -semicompatibility. To see this, take

$$R := \mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2 \tag{2.3}$$

with the usual addition and multiplication, and take an endomorphism σ of R defined by

$$\sigma: (a,b) \mapsto (b,a) \quad \text{for each } (a,b) \in R.$$
(2.4)

Then R is clearly commutative, and hence it is semicommutative. Now, if we let

$$f(x) = (1,0) + (1,0)x$$
 and $g(x) = (0,1) + (1,0)x \in R[x;\sigma],$ (2.5)

then f(x)g(x) = 0, but

$$a_1\sigma(b_0^2) = (1,0) \neq (0,0).$$

This contradicts (2.1).

Lemma 2.1.3. Let R be a σ -semicompatible semicommutative ring. If $f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i$ and $0 \neq g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x;\sigma]$ such that f(x)g(x) = 0 and $b_0^{m+1} \neq 0$, then there exists a nonzero element $r \in R$ such that f(x)r = 0.

Proof. From Lemma 2.1.2, we have $a_i \sigma^i(b_0^{i+1}) = 0$ for all $0 \le i \le m$. If we multiply by $\sigma^i(b_0^{m-i})$ for each *i*, then we obtain $a_i \sigma^i(b_0^{m+1}) = 0$ for all $0 \le i \le m$. Therefore,

$$f(x)(b_0^{m+1}) = \sum_{i=0}^m a_i \sigma^i(b_0^{m+1}) x^i = 0.$$

By the assumption $b_0^{m+1} \neq 0$, we are done.

Note that N(R) := the set of nilpotent elements in R and coeff(f(x)) := the set of all coefficients of f(x).

Lemma 2.1.4. Let R be a σ -semicompatible semicommutative ring. If $f(x) \in R[x; \sigma]$ is a left zerodivisor with $coeff(f(x)) \in N(R)$, then there exists a nonzero element $r \in R$ such that f(x)r = 0. Proof. Suppose $f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i$ and $g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x; \sigma] \setminus \{0\}$ satisfying that f(x)g(x) = 0and $a_i \in N(R)$ for every $0 \le i \le m$. Without loss of generality, we assume $b_0 \ne 0$. If $b_0^{m+1} \ne 0$, then from Lemma 2.1.3, the result follows.

Instead, we suppose $b_0^{m+1} = 0$. Then there exists $k \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfying $b_0^k \neq 0 = b_0^{k+1}$. Since $b_0^k \neq 0$, if $f(x)b_0^k = 0$ then we are done. Let $f(x)b_0^k \neq 0$. If j_1 is the smallest integer such that $a_{j_1}\sigma^{j_1}(b_0^k) \neq 0$, then we get $a_{j_1}b_0^k \neq 0$ by σ -semicompatibility. By assumption, $a_{j_1} \in N(R)$, which implies that there exists the smallest integer $n_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfying $a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k \neq 0 = a_{j_1}^{n_1+1}b_0^k$. Since R is semicommutative, we obtain $a_i\sigma^i(a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k) = a_i\sigma^i(a_{j_1}^{n_1})\sigma^i(b_0^k) = 0$ for all $i < j_1$. Then we see

$$f(x)(a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k) = \sum_{i=j_1}^m a_i \sigma^i(a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k)x^i.$$

If we assume $f(x)(a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k) = 0$, we are done. Thus, assume $f(x)(a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k) \neq 0$ and let $j_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ be the smallest integer such that $a_{j_2}\sigma^{j_2}(a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k) \neq 0$. Note that $j_2 > j_1$. Then we obtain $a_{j_2}a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k \neq 0$. Again, since $a_{j_2} \in N(R)$, we see that there exists the smallest integer $n_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfying $a_{j_2}^{n_2}a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k \neq 0$. $0 = a_{j_2}^{n_2+1}a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k$. We also get $a_i\sigma^i(a_{j_2}^{n_2}a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k) = a_i\sigma^i(a_{j_2}^{n_2})\sigma^i(a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k) = 0$ for all $i < j_2$, which implies m

$$f(x)(a_{j_2}^{n_2}a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k) = \sum_{i=j_2}^m a_i\sigma^i(a_{j_2}^{n_2}a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k)x^i.$$

If $f(x)(a_{j_2}^{n_2}a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k) = 0$, we are done. Thus, we assume $f(x)(a_{j_2}^{n_2}a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k) \neq 0$. Repeating the above procedure a finite number of times, we obtain

$$f(x)(a_{j_t}^{n_t}a_{j_t-1}^{n_t-1}\cdots a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k) = 0, \text{ where } a_{j_t}^{n_t}a_{j_t-1}^{n_t-1}\cdots a_{j_1}^{n_1}b_0^k \neq 0 \text{ for some } t \in \mathbb{N}.$$

This concludes the proof.

Corollary 2.1.5. Let R be a semicommutative ring. Then for any two polynomials $f(x), g(x) \in R[x] \setminus \{0\}$ satisfying that f(x)g(x) = 0 and $coeff(f(x)) \in N(R)$, there exists a nonzero element $r \in R$ such that f(x)r = 0.

Proof. It follows from Lemma 2.1.4 with σ to be the identity map.

We now prove:

Theorem 2.1.6. Let R be a σ -semicompatible semicommutative right (or left) artinian ring where σ is an epimorphism of R. Then the Jacobson radical J(R) is σ -skew McCoy. In particular, the Jacobson radical of semicommutative artinian rings is right McCoy.

Proof. Note that the Jacobson radical of right or left artinian rings is nilpotent and that every surjective endomorphism preserves the Jacobson radical, i.e., $\sigma(J(R)) \subseteq J(R)$. Thus, we can see that σ is also an endomorphism of J(R). By the hereditary property of both semicommutativity and σ -semicompatibility, J(R) is also σ -semicompatible and semicommutative. Then since all elements of J(R) are nilpotent, J(R) is σ -skew McCoy by Lemma 2.1.4. The second statement comes from the first statement with the identity map σ .

Note that $Nil^*(R) :=$ the upper nilradical of a ring R. Then we shall say that a ring R is J-McCoy (resp., N-McCoy) if for any nonzero polynomials $f(x), g(x) \in J(R[x])$ (resp., $Nil^*(R)[x]$) with f(x)g(x) = 0,

there exists a nonzero $r \in R$ such that f(x)r = 0.

On the other hand, it is known [4, Theorem 1] that there exists a nil ideal I of R such that J(R[x]) = I[x], which implies

$$J(R[x]) \subseteq Nil^*(R)[x].$$
(2.6)

Thus, we can see that

right McCoy
$$\implies$$
 N-McCoy \implies J-McCoy.

Further, it is well-known that for any ring R satisfying the Köthe conjecture, $J(R[x]) = Nil^*(R)[x]$ (see [4], [13], [25]). Hence, when R satisfies the Köthe conjecture, we have

$$R$$
 is J-McCoy $\iff R$ is N-McCoy.

We then have:

Proof. It is immediate from (2.6) and Corollary 2.1.5.

Next, we recall that in general, semicommutative rings are not right McCoy (see [34, Section 3]). Thus, we do not expect that σ -compatible semicommutative rings are σ -skew McCoy. Then we may ask the following:

Problem 2.1.8. Find a general sufficient condition for σ -compatible semicommutative rings to be σ -skew McCoy.

For an answer to Problem 2.1.8, we first observe:

Lemma 2.1.9. Let R be a σ -compatible semicommutative ring and let $f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i$ and $g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x;\sigma] \setminus \{0\}$ with f(x)g(x) = 0. Suppose k is a positive integer less than or equal to n+1. If for each $j = 0, 1, \ldots, k-1$, $b_j \in N(R)$ and $b_j^{p_j} \neq 0 = b_j^{p_j+1}$ for some $p_j \ge 0$, then

$$a_i b_k^{i+1} b_{k-1}^{p_{k-1}} b_{k-2}^{p_{k-2}} \cdots b_0^{p_0} = 0 \quad \text{for all } 0 \le i \le m.$$

$$(2.7)$$

Proof. We proceed by induction on *i*. If i = 0, then there are two cases to consider: in the case of $p_0 \neq 0$, the equation (2.7) is clear from $a_0b_0 = 0$ and the semicommutative condition of R, and for the case of $p_0 = 0$, let $l \in \mathbb{N}$ be the smallest integer less than or equal to k satisfying $b_l \neq 0$. Then we have $a_0b_l = 0$ from f(x)g(x) = 0. Thus, the equation (2.7) holds true because R is semicommutative. Now, suppose that the equation (2.7) holds for all i < u. From f(x)g(x) = 0, we can see that the coefficient of the term with degree u + k is 0, i.e.,

$$\sum_{i=0}^{u+k} a_i \sigma^i(b_{u+k-i}) = 0.$$

If we multiply both sides by $b_k^u b_{k-1}^{p_{k-1}} b_{k-2}^{p_{k-2}} \cdots b_0^{p_0}$, then we have

$$0 = \sum_{i=0}^{u+k} a_i \sigma^i(b_{u+k-i}) b_k^u b_{k-1}^{p_{k-1}} b_{k-2}^{p_{k-2}} \cdots b_0^{p_0}.$$
(2.8)

On the other hand, by the inductive assumption together with the semicommutative condition, we get

$$a_i b_k^u b_{k-1}^{p_{k-1}} b_{k-2}^{p_{k-2}} \cdots b_0^{p_0} = 0$$
 for all $i < u$.

By semicommutativity of R again,

$$a_i \sigma^i(b_{u+k-i}) b_k^u b_{k-1}^{p_{k-1}} b_{k-2}^{p_{k-2}} \cdots b_0^{p_0} = 0 \text{ for all } i < u.$$

$$(2.9)$$

Furthermore, from the assumption that $b_j^{p_j+1} = 0$ for all $0 \le j \le k-1$, we also have

$$a_i \sigma^i(b_{u+k-i}) b_k^u b_{k-1}^{p_{k-1}} b_{k-2}^{p_{k-2}} \cdots b_0^{p_0} = 0 \text{ for all } u+1 \le i \le u+k.$$
(2.10)

Thus, by (2.9) and (2.10), we rewrite the equation (2.8):

$$a_u \sigma^u(b_k) b_k^u b_{k-1}^{p_{k-1}} b_{k-2}^{p_{k-2}} \cdots b_0^{p_0} = 0,$$

which implies from σ -compatibility of R that

$$a_u b_k^{u+1} b_{k-1}^{p_{k-1}} b_{k-2}^{p_{k-2}} \cdots b_0^{p_0} = 0$$

This completes the proof.

On the other hand, in Lemma 2.1.3, we showed that whenever R is σ -semicompatible semicommutative, if $f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i$ and $g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x;\sigma] \setminus \{0\}$ with f(x)g(x) = 0 and $b_0^{m+1} \neq 0$, then there exists a nonzero element $r \in R$ such that f(x)r = 0. We now generalize it under the σ -compatible condition, which gives a general sufficient condition for σ -compatible semicommutative rings to be σ -skew McCoy.

Corollary 2.1.10. Let R be a σ -compatible semicommutative ring and let $f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i$ and $g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x;\sigma] \setminus \{0\}$ with f(x)g(x) = 0. Suppose that $b_0^{m+1} \neq 0$ or

$$b_k^{m+1} b_{k-1}^{p_{k-1}} b_{k-2}^{p_{k-2}} \cdots b_0^{p_0} \neq 0 \quad for \ some \ k \ge 1$$

$$(2.11)$$

with $b_j \in N(R)$ for each $0 \le j \le k-1$ and $b_j^{p_j} \ne 0 = b_j^{p_j+1}$ for some $p_j \ge 0$. Then there exists a nonzero element $r \in R$ such that f(x)r = 0.

Proof. If $b_0^{m+1} \neq 0$, then it is obvious from Lemma 2.1.3. Assume that $b_0^{m+1} = 0$ and (2.11) is satisfied. If we take $r := b_k^{m+1} b_{k-1}^{p_{k-1}} b_{k-2}^{p_{k-2}} \cdots b_0^{p_0}$, then by Lemma 2.1.9 together with the condition of semicommutativity, we have f(x)r = 0.

2.2 Duo rings

We recall that a ring R is called *right* (resp., *left*) duo if every right (resp., left) ideal is two-sided. This definition is equivalent to the property that for any $r, s \in R$, there exists an element $r' \in R$ (resp., $s' \in R$) such that rs = sr' (resp., rs = s'r). Note that right duo rings are right McCoy (see [11, Theorem 8.2]). But, they need not to be σ -skew McCoy. To see this, we put $R, \sigma, f(x)$, and g(x) as in (2.3), (2.4), and (2.5), respectively. Then f(x)g(x) = 0, but there does not exist any nonzero element $r \in R$ such that f(x)r = 0. However, under the condition of σ -compatibility, right duo rings are σ -skew McCoy (see Theorem 2.2.2).

We first extend the result of [11, Lemma 5.4].

Lemma 2.2.1. Let R be a σ -semicompatible semicommutative ring and let $f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i$ and $g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x;\sigma]$ such that f(x)g(x) = 0. Then

$$a_0^{i+1}b_i = 0$$
 for each $0 \le i \le n$.

Proof. It is similar to the proof in Lemma 2.1.2.

We now prove:

Theorem 2.2.2. σ -compatible right duo rings are σ -skew McCoy.

Proof. We apply the method of the proofs in [11, Theorem 8.2] and [34, Theorem 2]. Let R be a σ compatible right duo ring and let $f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i$ and $0 \neq g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x;\sigma]$ satisfying f(x)g(x) = 0 and $a_m \neq 0$. Without loss of generality, assume $b_0 \neq 0$. We denote

 $I_{g(x)} :=$ the right ideal generated by the set $\{a, \sigma^n(a) : a \in coeff(g(x)) \text{ and } n \in \mathbb{N}\}.$

We proceed by induction on the degree of f(x) to show that there exists a nonzero element $r \in I_{g(x)}$ such that f(x)r = 0. If $\deg(f(x))=0$, then we have $f(x)b_0 = 0$. We now suppose by induction that for any polynomial $p(x) \in R[x;\sigma]$ with $\deg(p(x)) = k$ for all k < m, if there exists a nonzero polynomial $q(x) \in R[x;\sigma]$ such that p(x)q(x) = 0, then there exists a nonzero element $r \in I_{q(x)}$ such that p(x)r = 0. We divide the proof into two cases:

Case 1 $(a_0g(x) = 0)$: We have $a_0I_{g(x)} = 0$ because R is σ -semicompatible. Take

$$f_1(x) := \sum_{i=1}^m a_i x^{i-1}$$

and

$$g_1(x) := \sigma(b_0) + \sigma(b_1)x + \sigma(b_2)x^2 + \dots + \sigma(b_n)x^n.$$

Note that $g_1(x) \neq 0$ by a monomorphism of σ . We observe

$$0 = f(x)g(x) = (a_1x + a_2x^2 + \dots + a_mx^m)g(x) = f_1(x)xg(x) = f_1(x)g_1(x)x,$$

which implies $f_1(x)g_1(x) = 0$. Since we also have $\deg(f_1(x)) < \deg(f(x))$, by induction, there exists a nonzero element $r \in I_{g_1(x)}$ such that $f_1(x)r = 0$. But since $I_{g_1(x)} \subseteq I_{g(x)}$, it follows that $r \in I_{g(x)}$ and f(x)r = 0 by σ -semicompatibility.

Case 2 $(a_0g(x) \neq 0)$: Let j be the smallest integer satisfying $a_0b_j \neq 0$. Then from Lemma 2.2.1, there exists $k \geq 1$ such that $a_0^k b_j \neq 0 = a_0^{k+1} b_j$. But since R is right duo, there exists $s_1 \in R$ such that $a_0^k b_j = b_j s_1$. We take $g_1(x) := g(x)s_1$. Then we can see that $g_1(x) \neq 0$ because R is σ -compatible and that $f(x)g_1(x) = 0$. Similarly, if we assume $a_0g_1(x) = 0$, then we see $a_0I_{g_1(x)} = 0$. Take

$$f_1(x) := \sum_{i=1}^m a_i x^{i-1}$$

and

$$g_1'(x) := \sigma(b_0 s_1) + \sigma(b_1 \sigma(s_1))x + \sigma(b_2 \sigma^2(s_1))x^2 + \dots + \sigma(b_n \sigma^n(s_1))x^n.$$

We observe

$$0 = f(x)g_1(x) = f_1(x)xg_1(x) = f_1(x)g'_1(x)x,$$

which implies $f_1(x)g'_1(x) = 0$. From the fact that $\deg(f_1) < \deg(f)$ and $g'_1 \neq 0$, by induction, there exists a nonzero element $r_1 \in I_{g'_1(x)}$ such that $f_1(x)r_1 = 0$. We also have $I_{g'_1(x)} \subseteq I_{g(x)}$, so that $r_1 \in I_{g(x)}$ and $f(x)r_1 = 0$, and hence the result follows. Instead, let $a_0g_1(x) \neq 0$ and let j_1 be the smallest integer such that $a_0(b_{j_1}\sigma^{j_1}(s_1)) \neq 0$. Note that $j < j_1$ because we have $a_0(b_js_1) = 0$. From Lemma 2.2.1, we again obtain a nonzero integer $n_1 \geq 1$ such that $a_0^{n_1}(b_{j_1}\sigma^{j_1}(s_1)) \neq 0 = a_0^{n_1+1}(b_{j_1}\sigma^{j_1}(s_1))$, and then it follows from the right duo property that there exists $s_2 \in R$ such that $a_0^{n_1}(b_{j_1}\sigma^{j_1}(s_1)) = (b_{j_1}\sigma^{j_1}(s_1))s_2$. Put $g_2(x) := g_1(x)s_2$, and then $fg_2 = 0$. If we repeat the above procedure a finite number of times, we obtain $a_0g_t(x) = 0$, where $g_t(x) := g(x)(s_1s_2\cdots s_t)$ for some $t \in \mathbb{N}$, which implies that there exists a nonzero element $r_t \in I_{g(x)}$ such that $f(x)r_t = 0$. This completes the proof.

2.3 Reversible rings

Now, we focus on the σ -skew McCoy property for reversible rings. We first recall [16, Theorem 3.6] that

every
$$\sigma$$
-compatible reversible ring is σ -skew McCoy. (2.12)

Then we can strengthen (2.12) using σ -semicompatibility with a monomorphism σ in place of σ -compatibility.

Lemma 2.3.1. Let R be a σ -semicompatible reversible ring where σ is a monomorphism of R. Then R is σ -skew McCoy.

Proof. We claim that such rings are σ -compatible. To see this, let $a, b \in R$ such that $a\sigma(b) = 0$. Since R is reversible, $\sigma(b)a = 0$, which implies from σ -semicompatibility that $\sigma(ba) = 0$. Also, since σ is a monomorphism, we have ba=0, and hence ab = 0. Therefore, by (2.12), R is σ -skew McCoy.

- **Example 2.3.2.** (a) Let R be a domain and σ be a monomorphism of R. Then we can see that R is σ -semicompatible reversible. Therefore, by Lemma 2.3.1, R is σ -skew McCoy.
 - (b) Let R be a reduced ring and take

$$S := \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} : a, b \in R \right\}.$$

Define an endomorphism σ of S by

$$\sigma \colon \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} a & -b \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix}$$

Then S is reversible by [24, Proposition 1.6]). Also, we see that σ is a monomorphism of S. Indeed,

$$\sigma\left(\begin{pmatrix}a&b\\0&a\end{pmatrix}\right) = 0 \implies \begin{pmatrix}a&-b\\0&a\end{pmatrix} = 0,$$

which implies a = b = 0. Further, we have S is σ -semicompatible. To see this, if we let

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} c & d \\ 0 & c \end{pmatrix} = 0, \text{ then } \begin{cases} ac = 0, \\ ad + bc = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.13)

Then from (2.13), a(ad + bc) = 0. But since R is reduced, it is semicommutative. Thus, abc = 0 by ac = 0. Then aad = 0, which implies $(ad)^2 = 0$, and hence ad = 0 because R is reduced. Also, we have bc = 0 by (2.13). Therefore, we obtain

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \sigma \left(\begin{pmatrix} c & d \\ 0 & c \end{pmatrix} \right) = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} c & -d \\ 0 & c \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$

Thus, by Lemma 2.3.1, S is σ -skew McCoy.

(c) Lemma 2.3.1 may fail if the condition of σ-semicompatibility is omitted. To see this, we take R and σ as in (2.3) and (2.4), respectively. Then we can see that σ is an automorphism and R is reduced, but not σ-skew McCoy.

Then we can recapture the result of [10, Theorem 9].

Corollary 2.3.3. Let R be a right σ -reversible and reversible ring where σ is a monomorphism of R. Then R is σ -skew McCoy.

Proof. It is enough to show that if R is right σ -reversible and reversible, then R is σ -semicompatible. Indeed, assume R is right σ -reversible and reversible. Suppose $a, b \in R$ such that ab = 0. Since R is reversible, ba = 0. Then we have $a\sigma(b) = 0$ by right σ -reversibility, which implies that R is σ -semicompatible. Thus, from Lemma 2.3.1, R is σ -skew McCoy.

2.4 Regular rings

We recall that a ring R is called (von Neumann) regular [21] if for any element $a \in R$, there exists an element $b \in R$ satisfying a = aba. Then it was shown [27, Theorem 20] that if R is a regular ring, then

$$R \text{ is right McCoy} \iff R \text{ is reduced.}$$
(2.14)

We now generalize (2.14) with the σ -skew McCoy property and show that whenever a ring is σ -compatible regular, the notions of the σ -skew McCoy and the right McCoy are equivalent.

Theorem 2.4.1. If R is a σ -compatible regular ring, then R is right McCoy if and only if R is σ -skew McCoy.

Proof. From (2.14), it is enough to prove that

R is reduced
$$\iff R$$
 is σ -skew McCoy.

Let R be reduced, which implies R is reversible. From the fact that σ -compatibility implies σ semicompatibility with a monomorphism σ , we have that R is σ -skew McCoy by Lemma 2.3.1.

Conversely, suppose R is σ -skew McCoy. Assume to the contrary that R is not reduced. Let $a \in R \setminus \{0\}$ satisfying $a^2 = 0$. Since R is regular, there exists an element $b \in R$ such that a = aba. Put c := bab, then aca = a, cac = c, and $c \neq 0$. If we let

$$f(x) = \sigma(a) - (1 - ca)x$$
 and $g(x) = ac + \sigma(c)x$,

then we have $f(x) \neq 0 \neq g(x)$ and

$$f(x)g(x) = \sigma(a)ac + (\sigma(a)\sigma(c) - (1 - ca)\sigma(ac))x - (1 - ca)\sigma^2(c)x^2.$$

We observe the following with the condition of σ -compatibility:

- (i) $\sigma(a)ac = 0$ from the fact that $\sigma(a^2) = 0$ implies $\sigma(a)a = 0$.
- (ii) $\sigma(a)\sigma(c) (1 ca)\sigma(ac) = \sigma(ac) \sigma(ac) + ca\sigma(ac) = c(a\sigma(a))\sigma(c) = 0$ from the fact that $a^2 = 0$ implies $a\sigma(a) = 0$.
- (iii) $(1-ca)\sigma^2(c) = 0$ from the fact that (1-ca)c = 0.

Therefore, we get f(x)g(x) = 0. But since R is σ -skew McCoy, there exists a nonzero element $r \in R$ satisfying f(x)r = 0. Then

$$f(x)r = (\sigma(a) - (1 - ca)x)r = \sigma(a)r - (1 - ca)\sigma(r)x = 0,$$

which implies

$$\begin{cases} \sigma(a)r = 0, \\ (1 - ca)\sigma(r) = 0. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.15)$$

Then by σ -compatibility, we get $a\sigma(r) = 0$ from $\sigma(a)r = 0$. Thus, from (2.15), $\sigma(r) = ca\sigma(r) = 0$, and hence we obtain r = 0, which is a contradiction. Therefore, R is reduced. **Example 2.4.2.** Let $S = \mathbb{Z}_p(t)$ be the field of fractions of the polynomial ring $\mathbb{Z}_p[t]$, where p is a prime, and let ϕ be the Frobenius endomorphism of S defined by $\phi(s) = s^p$. Take

$$R := S \oplus S$$

and define an endomorphism σ of R by

$$\sigma \colon (a, b) \mapsto (\phi(a), \phi(b)).$$

Clearly, R is commutative, which implies R is right McCoy. Also, we can easily see that R is σ -compatible regular. Therefore, by Theorem 2.4.1, R is σ -skew McCoy.

On the other hand, we observe the right linearly McCoy property. It was shown [23, Proposition 2.14] that if R is a regular ring, then R is right linearly McCoy if and only if R is reduced. We show that if R is a σ -compatible regular ring, then R is linearly σ -skew McCoy if and only if R is reduced. To do so, we first extend [22, Lemma 3.4], which asserts that if R is a right linearly McCoy ring and $a \in R$ with $a^2 = 0$, then 1 - ra cannot be a left zero-divisor for all $r \in R$.

Lemma 2.4.3. Let R be a σ -compatible linearly σ -skew McCoy ring. Then for any $a \in R$ with $a^2 = 0, 1 - ra$ cannot be a left zero-divisor for all $r \in R$.

Proof. We apply the method of the proof in [22, Lemma 3.4]. Assume to the contrary that 1 - ra is a left zero-divisor for some $r \in R$. Then there exists a nonzero $k \in R$ such that (1 - ra)k = 0. Take

$$f(x) = \sigma(a) + (1 - ra)x$$
 and $g(x) = ak - \sigma(k)x$.

Then $f(x) \neq 0 \neq g(x)$ and

$$f(x)g(x) = \sigma(a)ak + (-\sigma(a)\sigma(k) + (1 - ra)\sigma(ak))x + (-(1 - ra)\sigma^{2}(k))x^{2}$$

Since R is σ -compatible, we have

(i)
$$\sigma(a)ak = 0$$
 because $0 = \sigma(a^2k) = \sigma(a)\sigma(ak)$, and hence $\sigma(a)ak = 0$.

(ii)
$$-\sigma(a)\sigma(k) + (1 - ra)\sigma(ak) = -ra\sigma(ak) = 0$$
 because $a\sigma(ak) = 0$.

(iii) $(1 - ra)\sigma^2(k) = 0$ because (1 - ra)k = 0.

Thus, we have f(x)g(x) = 0. Since R is linearly σ -skew McCoy, there exists $0 \neq s \in R$ such that f(x)s = 0. Then

$$f(x)s = (\sigma(a) + (1 - ra)x)s = \sigma(a)s + (1 - ra)\sigma(s)x = 0,$$

which implies $\sigma(s) = 0$, and thus s = 0, which is a contradiction. Therefore, the result follows. \Box

We then have:

Corollary 2.4.4. Let R be a σ -compatible regular ring. Then R is linearly σ -skew McCoy if and only if R is reduced.

Proof. Suppose R is linearly σ -skew McCoy. Assume to the contrary that there exists $0 \neq a \in R$ such that $a^2 = 0$. Since R is regular, there exists $b \in R$ such that aba = a. If we take c := bab, then we have aca = a and cac = c. Thus, we get $c \neq 0$ and (1 - ca)c = 0, which contradicts Lemma 2.4.3. Conversely, it is immediate from Theorem 2.4.1 via (2.14).

Corollary 2.4.5. Let R be a σ -compatible regular ring. Then the following are equivalent:

- (i) R is right McCoy;
- (ii) R is linearly σ -skew McCoy;
- (iii) R is σ -skew McCoy.

Proof. It is immediate from Theorem 2.4.1 and Corollary 2.4.4 together with (2.14).

CHAPTER 3

Skew Camillo rings

In this chapter, we consider the skew Camillo property. To do so, we first remind of the following definitions: a ring R is called *right Camillo* (resp., *left Camillo*) [8] if for any two polynomials $f(x), g(x) \in R[x] \setminus \{0\}$ with f(x)g(x) = 0, there exists a nonzero element $r \in R$ such that f(x)r = 0 or g(x)r = 0 (resp., rf(x) = 0 or rg(x) = 0).

We say that a ring R is σ -skew Camillo if for any two polynomials $f(x), g(x) \in R[x;\sigma] \setminus \{0\}$ with f(x)g(x) = 0,

there exists a nonzero element
$$r \in R$$
 such that $f(x)r = 0$ or $g(x)r = 0$. (3.1)

Moreover, R is said to be *linearly* σ -skew Camillo if we restrict degrees of both f(x) and g(x) not to be greater than 1 in the equation (3.1).

We also recall that a ring R is called 2-primal if P(R) = N(R). Then it was shown [11, Theorem 9.2] that

$$R \text{ is 2-primal} \Longrightarrow R \text{ is Camillo.} \tag{3.2}$$

Chapter 3 is essentially based on [29], while Section 3.2 can be found in [28]. First, we show that if R is σ -compatible 2-primal, then R is σ -skew Camillo (see Theorem 3.1.3), which extends the result of (3.2). By the result, we get that σ -compatible semicommutative rings are σ -skew Camillo, which generalizes a result by P. Nielsen [34, Theorem 4]. Second, we prove that if R is σ semicompatible semicommutative, then R is linearly σ -skew Camillo (see Theorem 3.2.1) and that if R is a matrix ring over a division ring, then R is linearly σ -skew Camillo for any endomorphism σ (see Theorem 3.2.3).

3.1 2-primal rings

We first recall that a ring R is called σ -skew Armendariz [19] if for any two polynomials $f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i$ and $g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x;\sigma]$ satisfying f(x)g(x) = 0,

$$a_i \sigma^i(b_j) = 0$$
 for all $0 \le i \le m$ and $0 \le j \le n$.

Then in order to prove that every σ -compatible 2-primal ring is σ -skew Camillo, we need the following lemmas.

Lemma 3.1.1. Let R be a σ -semicompatible reduced ring with a monomorphism σ . Then R is σ -skew Armendariz.

Proof. We use an idea of the proof in [7, Lemma 1]. Since f(x)g(x) = 0, we have

$$\begin{cases} a_0 b_0 = 0, \\ a_0 b_1 + a_1 \sigma(b_0) = 0, \\ a_0 b_2 + a_1 \sigma(b_1) + a_2 \sigma^2(b_0) = 0, \\ \vdots \\ a_0 b_{m+n} + a_1 \sigma(b_{m+n-1}) + a_2 \sigma^2(b_{m+n-2}) + \dots + a_{m+n} \sigma^{m+n}(b_0) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.3)

where $a_k = 0$ for all k > m and $b_k = 0$ for all k > n. Since R is reduced, R is reversible, which implies from $a_0b_0 = 0$ that $b_0a_0 = 0$. If we multiply the second equation of (3.3) by b_0 on the left, we obtain $b_0a_1\sigma(b_0) = 0$, so that $b_0a_1\sigma(b_0a_1) = 0$. From the reversible condition, $\sigma(b_0a_1)b_0a_1 = 0$. Then $(b_0a_1)^2 = 0$ by σ -semicompatibility with a monomorphism σ . Since R is reduced, $b_0a_1 = 0$, and thus $a_1b_0 = 0$. Then by σ -semicompatibility, we get $a_1\sigma(b_0) = 0$. Again, multiplying the third equation of (3.3) by b_0 on the left, we also get $b_0a_2\sigma^2(b_0) = 0$, and hence $a_2\sigma^2(b_0) = 0$ by the same way. If we repeat this process, we have $a_i\sigma^i(b_0) = 0$ for all $0 \le i \le m + n$. Then the equation (3.3) reduces to:

$$\begin{cases}
 a_0b_1 = 0, \\
 a_0b_2 + a_1\sigma(b_1) = 0, \\
 a_0b_3 + a_1\sigma(b_2) + a_2\sigma^2(b_1) = 0, \\
 \vdots \\
 a_0b_{m+n} + a_1\sigma(b_{m+n-1}) + \dots + a_{m+n-1}\sigma^{m+n-1}(b_1) = 0.
 \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

By repeating the procedure from the equation (3.3) in the equation (3.4) with b_1 instead of b_0 , we also have $a_i \sigma^i(b_1) = 0$ for all $0 \le i \le m + n - 1$. Continuing this argument, we obtain $a_i \sigma^i(b_j) = 0$ for all $0 \le i \le m$ and $0 \le j \le n$.

In [6, Proposition 2.1], it was shown that if R is a ring and N(R) is an ideal, then $f(x)g(x) \in N(R)[x]$ implies $ab \in N(R)$ for all $a \in coeff(f(x))$ and $b \in coeff(g(x))$. We now apply the ideas of this result to extend it.

Lemma 3.1.2. Let R be a σ -compatible ring and N(R) be an ideal. Then for any $f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i$ and $g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x; \sigma]$,

$$f(x)g(x) \in N(R)[x;\sigma] \Longrightarrow a_i\sigma^i(b_j) \in N(R) \text{ for all } 0 \le i \le m \text{ and } 0 \le j \le n.$$

Proof. Suppose $f(x)g(x) \in N(R)[x;\sigma]$. Let $\overline{R} := R/N(R)$ and $\overline{\sigma}$ be an endomorphism of \overline{R} defined by

$$\bar{\sigma} \colon r + N(R) \mapsto \sigma(r) + N(R).$$

Clearly, \overline{R} is reduced and $\overline{f}(x)\overline{g}(x) = 0$, where \overline{f} and \overline{g} are the corresponding polynomials in $\overline{R}[x;\overline{\sigma}]$. We claim that $\overline{\sigma}$ is a monomorphism and \overline{R} is $\overline{\sigma}$ -semicompatible. To see this, let $\overline{\sigma}(r + N(R)) = N(R)$. Then $\sigma(r) \in N(R)$, which implies $r \in N(R)$ by a monomorphism σ . Hence, $\overline{\sigma}$ is a monomorphism. To show $\overline{\sigma}$ -semicompatibility, we first claim that

$$ab \in N(R) \Longrightarrow a\sigma(b) \in N(R).$$
 (3.5)

Indeed, if $(ab)^t = 0$ for some $t \ge 1$, then by σ -compatibility, we have $a\sigma(b(ab)^{t-1}) = 0$ and $a\sigma(b)\sigma((ab)^{t-1}) = 0$, and thus $a\sigma(b)(ab)^{t-1} = 0$. Continuing this process, we obtain $(a\sigma(b))^t = 0$, which shows (3.5). We now assume (a+N(R))(b+N(R)) = N(R). Then since $ab \in N(R)$, we have $a\sigma(b) \in N(R)$ by (3.5). Then $(a+N(R))(\sigma(b)+N(R)) = N(R)$, which implies $(a+N(R))\overline{\sigma}(b+N(R)) = N(R)$. Therefore, \overline{R} is $\overline{\sigma}$ -semicompatible.

Now, if we apply Lemma 3.1.1 with \overline{R} and $\overline{\sigma}$, then we see $a_i \sigma^i(b_j) \in N(R)$ for all $0 \le i \le m$ and $0 \le j \le n$.

We are ready to prove the following:

Theorem 3.1.3. σ -compatible 2-primal rings are σ -skew Camillo.

Proof. Let R be a σ -compatible 2-primal ring. Suppose

$$f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i \text{ and } g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x;\sigma] \setminus \{0\} \text{ with } f(x)g(x) = 0.$$

From the 2-primal condition, we have P(R) = N(R), so that N(R) is an ideal. Note that $f(x)g(x) = 0 \in N(R)[x;\sigma]$. Thus, by Lemma 3.1.2, we get $a_i\sigma^i(b_j) \in N(R)$ for all $0 \le i \le m$ and $0 \le j \le n$. We claim that

$$a_i \sigma(b_j) \in N(R) \text{ for all } i, j.$$
 (3.6)

To see this, since $(a_i \sigma^i(b_j))^t = 0$ for some $t \ge 1$, by σ -compatibility, we see

$$(a_i\sigma^i(b_j))^t = 0 \Longrightarrow a_i\sigma^i(b_j(a_i\sigma^i(b_j))^{t-1}) = 0$$
$$\Longrightarrow a_i\sigma(b_j)\sigma((a_i\sigma^i(b_j))^{t-1}) = 0$$
$$\Longrightarrow a_i\sigma(b_j)(a_i\sigma^i(b_j))^{t-1} = 0.$$

Repeating this argument, we obtain $(a_i\sigma(b_j))^t = 0$, which proves (3.6). Therefore, $a_i\sigma(b_j) \in P(R)$ for all i, j. Take

$$S := \{a_i \sigma(b_j) \mid 0 \le i \le m \text{ and } 0 \le j \le n\} \subseteq P(R).$$
(3.7)

Case 1 $(S = \{0\})$: Choose a nonzero coefficient b_s of g(x) for some $0 \le s \le n$. Then by a monomorphism σ , $\sigma(b_s) \ne 0$. From the fact that $S = \{0\}$ and R is σ -compatible, we get $a_i \sigma^i(b_s) = 0$ for all $0 \le i \le m$, which implies

$$f(x)b_s = \sum_{i=0}^m a_i \sigma^i(b_s) x^i = 0.$$

Case 2 $(S \neq \{0\})$: Note that P(R) is locally nilpotent, which implies S is nilpotent. Thus, there exists $k \ge 1$ satisfying $S^k \ne \{0\} = S^{k+1}$. If we take $r \in S^k \setminus \{0\}$ satisfying $b_j r = 0$ for all $0 \le j \le n$, then by σ -compatibility, we have $b_j \sigma^j(r) = 0$ for each j. Thus,

$$g(x)r = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j \sigma^j(r) x^j = 0.$$

Instead, suppose $b_c r \neq 0$ for some $0 \leq c \leq n$. Since $S^{k+1} = \{0\}$, $a_i \sigma(b_c) r = 0$ for all $0 \leq i \leq m$. Then from σ -compatibility, we get $a_i \sigma^i(b_c r) = 0$ for each *i*. Hence,

$$f(x)(b_c r) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i \sigma^i(b_c r) x^i = 0.$$

We completes the proof.

We recall that

an ideal P is prime if for any elements $a, b \in R, aRb \subseteq P$ implies $a \in P$ or $b \in P$,

a prime ideal P is completely prime if for any elements $a, b \in R, ab \in P$ implies $a \in P$ or $b \in P$.

Then we would like to remark the following:

Remark 3.1.4. We claim that if R is a σ -compatible 2-primal ring and $f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i$ and $g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x;\sigma] \setminus \{0\}$ with f(x)g(x) = 0, then for any minimal prime ideal P, we get

$$\{a_0, \cdots, a_m\} \subseteq P \text{ or } \{\sigma(b_0), \cdots, \sigma(b_n)\} \subseteq P.$$
(3.8)

Indeed, assume to the contrary that there exists a minimal prime ideal P satisfying $a_t \notin P$ and $\sigma(b_s) \notin P$ for some $0 \leq t \leq m$ and $0 \leq s \leq n$. From (3.6), $a_i \sigma(b_j) \in N(R)$ for all i, j. Then we have $a_t \sigma(b_s) \in N(R) = P(R)$, and hence $a_t \sigma(b_s) \in P$, which is a contradiction to the fact that all minimal prime ideals of R are completely prime if and only if R is 2-primal [39, Proposition 1.11]. Therefore, the result of (3.8) follows (see [11, the proof of Theorem 9.2]).

However, we do not guarantee that (3.8) holds for P(R) in place of P. If (3.8) holds for P(R), then we can prove Theorem 3.1.3 in a little different way. The outline of the different proof is as follows. If we suppose that $S := \{a_0, \dots, a_m\} \subseteq P(R)$, then clearly $S \neq \{0\}$. But since S is nilpotent, there exists $t \ge 1$ such that $S^t \ne 0 = S^{t+1}$. Choose $s \in S^t \setminus \{0\}$. Then from the fact that $S^{t+1} = 0$ and R is σ -compatible, $a_i \sigma^i(s) = 0$ for all i. Therefore, $f(x)s = \sum_{i=0}^m a_i \sigma^i(s)x^i = 0$. Instead, suppose $\{\sigma(b_0), \dots, \sigma(b_n)\} \subseteq P(R)$. Then similarly, we have g(x)s' = 0 for some $s' \in R \setminus \{0\}$.

On the other hand, by Theorem 3.1.3 and (1.5), we see that every σ -compatible semicommutative ring is σ -skew Camillo, which generalizes [34, Theorem 4]. However, since semicommutative rings need not to be right McCoy (see [34, Section 3]), we can conclude that in general, σ -compatible semicommutative rings are not σ -skew McCoy.

3.2 Linearly skew Camillo rings

According to [16, Theorem 3.11], σ -compatible semicommutative rings are linearly σ -skew McCoy. But if the condition of σ -compatibility is weakened to that of σ -semicompatibility, it is not obvious whether this result is true. However, we can see that such rings are linearly σ -skew Camillo as shown in the following theorem.

Theorem 3.2.1. If R is a σ -semicompatible semicommutative ring, then R is linearly σ -skew Camillo.

Proof. Let $f(x) = a_0 + a_1 x$ and $g(x) = b_0 + b_1 x \in R[x; \sigma] \setminus \{0\}$ with f(x)g(x) = 0. Suppose $b_0 = 0$. Then $0 = f(x)g(x) = f(x)b_1 x$, which implies $f(x)b_1 = 0$. But from $g(x) \neq 0$, we have $b_1 \neq 0$, and hence we are done. Now, let $b_0 \neq 0$. In this case, if $b_0^2 \neq 0$, then by Lemma 2.1.3, there exists $r \in R \setminus \{0\}$ such that f(x)r = 0. Instead, we assume $b_0^2 = 0$.

Case 1 $(b_1 \sigma(b_0) = 0)$: Then we have $g(x)b_0 = 0$.

Case 2 $(b_1\sigma(b_0) \neq 0)$: Put $g_1(x) := g(x)b_0 = b_1\sigma(b_0)x$. Then since $f(x)g_1(x) = 0$, we have $f(x)(b_1\sigma(b_0)) = 0$. Therefore, the result follows.

However, it is not clear whether Theorem 3.2.1 can be strengthened to " σ -skew Camillo" instead of "linearly σ -skew Camillo". But we can see a weakened version. To do that, we give the following definition: a ring R is weakly σ -skew Camillo if for any left zero-divisor $f(x) \in R[x;\sigma] \setminus \{0\}$, there exists a nonzero $g(x) \in \text{r.ann}_{R[x;\sigma]}(f(x))$ satisfying f(x)r = 0 or g(x)r = 0 for some $r \in R \setminus \{0\}$, where $\text{r.ann}_{R[x;\sigma]}(f(x)) :=$ the set of right annihilators of f(x) in $R[x;\sigma]$.

We then have:

Theorem 3.2.2. Every σ -semicompatible semicommutative ring is weakly σ -skew Camillo.

Proof. Let $f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i$ and $g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x;\sigma] \setminus \{0\}$ with f(x)g(x) = 0. Without loss of generality, assume that g(x) is a nonzero polynomial of minimal degree such that f(x)g(x) = 0. Note that $b_0 \neq 0$. If we suppose $b_0^{m+1} \neq 0$, then from Lemma 2.1.3, there exists a nonzero $r \in R$ such that f(x)r = 0. Now, let $b_0^{m+1} = 0$. Then there exists $k \geq 1$ satisfying $b_0^k \neq 0 = b_0^{k+1}$. If $\deg(g(x)) = 0$, then $g(x)b_0^k = 0$. Thus, let $\deg(g(x)) \geq 1$. If we take

$$g_1(x) = g(x)b_0^k$$
 and $g_2(x) = g_1(x)/x$,

then clearly we have $0 = f(x)g_1(x) = f(x)g_2(x)x$, and hence $f(x)g_2(x) = 0$. But the case of $g_2(x) \neq 0$ leads to a contradiction by minimality of g. Thus, we can see $g_2(x) = 0$, which implies $g(x)b_0^k = 0$. This completes the proof.

On the other hand, it was proven [8, Corollary 3.7] that if R is a matrix ring over a division ring, then R is linearly Camillo. We recall ([8], [14]) that a ring R is called *right eversible* if every right zero-divisor of R is a left zero-divisor. Then the proof of [8, Corollary 3.7] is basically proving that right eversible rings are linearly right Camillo (see [8, Proposition 3.6]). We can further show by adopting the method of the proof in [8, Proposition 3.6].

Theorem 3.2.3. Every matrix ring over a division ring is linearly σ -skew Camillo for all endomorphism σ .

Proof. Since matrix rings over a division ring are right eversible, it is enough to show that right eversible rings are linearly σ -skew Camillo. To see this, we assume R is right eversible. Let $f(x) = a_0 + a_1 x$ and $g(x) = b_0 + b_1 x \in R[x;\sigma] \setminus \{0\}$ satisfying f(x)g(x) = 0. We observe the following two cases.

Case 1 $(a_0 = 0)$: From f(x)g(x) = 0, we have $a_1\sigma(b_0) = 0$ and $a_1\sigma(b_1) = 0$, which implies that $f(x)b_0 = 0$ and $f(x)b_1 = 0$. But since $g(x) \neq 0$, we see $b_0 \neq 0$ or $b_1 \neq 0$. Therefore, the result follows.

Case 2 $(a_0 \neq 0)$: Note that b_0 is a right zero-divisor from $a_0b_0 = 0$. Then by assumption, there exists a nonzero $r \in R$ such that $b_0r = 0$. If $b_1\sigma(r) = 0$, then $g(x)r = (b_0+b_1x)r = b_0r+b_1\sigma(r)x = 0$. Instead, let $b_1\sigma(r) \neq 0$. Observe

$$0 = f(x)g(x)r = f(x)(b_0 + b_1x)r = f(x)(b_0r + b_1\sigma(r)x) = f(x)(b_1\sigma(r)x),$$

which implies $f(x)(b_1\sigma(r)) = 0$. This completes the proof.

CHAPTER 4

McCoy property on Ore extensions

In this chapter, we consider the McCoy property from the aspect of the Ore extensions. Basically, Chapter 4 is based on [30]. First, we provide a notion of (σ, δ) -skew nil-McCoy property, and then show that if R is a (σ, δ) -compatible right duo ring, then R is (σ, δ) -skew nil-McCoy (see Theorem 4.1.3). Second, we prove that for a (σ, δ) -compatible right duo, local left (or right) artinian ring R, the Jacobson radical J(R) is (σ, δ) -skew McCoy (see Theorem 4.2.2). Third, we show that whenever R is a (σ, δ) -compatible regular ring with a tracial σ -derivation δ , R is reversible if and only if R is (σ, δ) -skew McCoy (see Theorem 4.3.2). Lastly, we prove that when K is a field of characteristic 0 and the group ring $K[Q_8]$ is (σ, δ) -compatible with a tracial σ -derivation δ , $K[Q_8]$ is (σ, δ) -skew McCoy if and only if K contains no solution to the equation $1 + x^2 + y^2 = 0$ (see Corollary 4.4.1).

4.1 (σ, δ) -skew nil-McCoy rings

We recall the result of ([16, Theorem 3.6]): for a (σ, δ) -compatible ring R,

$$R \text{ is reversible} \implies R \text{ is } (\sigma, \delta) \text{-skew McCoy.}$$
 (4.1)

We do not know whether the implication (4.1) holds for the "right duo condition" instead of the "reversible condition". But we can give a weakened version of this. To do that, we first introduce a new notion.

Definition 4.1.1. A ring R is called (σ, δ) -skew nil-McCoy if for any nonzero two polynomials

$$f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i \text{ and } g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x;\sigma;\delta] \text{ with } a_i \in N(R) \text{ for all } 0 \le i \le m,$$

f(x)g(x) = 0 implies there exists an element $r \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ such that $a_i x^i r = 0$ for all *i*.

Lemma 4.1.2. If R is a (σ, δ) -compatible ring, then for every $r_1, r_2 \in R$,

$$r_1 x^i r_2 = 0 \Longrightarrow \begin{cases} r_1 x^i \sigma(r_2) = 0, \\ r_1 x^i \delta(r_2) = 0. \end{cases}$$
 for each $i = 0, 1, 2, \dots$

Proof. We proceed by induction on *i*. If i = 0, it is clear by (σ, δ) -compatibility. Now, suppose $r_1 x^k r_2 = 0$ for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Observe

$$0 = r_1 x^{k-1} (xr_2) = r_1 x^{k-1} (\sigma(r_2) x + \delta(r_2)),$$

which implies $r_1 x^{k-1} \sigma(r_2) = 0$ and $r_1 x^{k-1} \delta(r_2) = 0$. Then from $r_1 x^{k-1} \sigma(r_2) = 0$, we have by induction that

$$r_1 x^{k-1} \sigma^2(r_2) = 0$$

and

$$r_1 x^{k-1} \delta(\sigma(r_2)) = 0$$

Therefore,

$$r_1 x^k \sigma(r_2) = r_1 x^{k-1} (x \sigma(r_2)) = r_1 x^{k-1} (\sigma^2(r_2) x + \delta(\sigma(r_2))) = 0$$

Similarly, we can see $r_1 x^k \delta(r_2) = 0$ by $r_1 x^{k-1} \delta(r_2) = 0$. This completes the proof.

We now prove:

Theorem 4.1.3. (σ, δ) -compatible right duo rings are (σ, δ) -skew nil-McCoy.

Proof. We adopt an idea of the proofs in [11, Theorem 8.2] (or [34, Theorem 2] and [28, Theorem 2.8]). Let

$$f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i$$
 and $g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x;\sigma;\delta] \setminus \{0\}$

with f(x)g(x) = 0, $a_m \neq 0$, and $a_i \in N(R)$ for all $i = 0, \dots, m$. Without loss of generality, assume $b_n \neq 0$. We write $I_{g(x)}$:= the right ideal generated by the set of all coefficients in g(x) and the values of any finite number of σ and δ at each coefficient of g(x), i.e.,

$$\Big\{b, \ \sigma^{t_1}(\delta^{t_2}(\sigma^{t_3}\cdots(\delta^{t_l}(b))\cdots)): \ b\in coeff(g), \ t_i\in\mathbb{N}\cup\{0\}, \ l\in\mathbb{N}\Big\}.$$

We will use induction on deg(f) to get the result. If deg (f) = 0, then clearly, $f(x)b_n = 0$, and hence we are done.

Now, we suppose that if $u(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{l} u_i x^i \in R[x;\sigma;\delta] \setminus \{0\}$ with $\deg(u(x)) = k$ for any k < mand all u_i 's are nilpotent, then for any nonzero polynomial $v(x) \in R[x;\sigma;\delta]$,

$$u(x)v(x) = 0 \Longrightarrow \exists r \in I_{v(x)} \setminus \{0\}$$
 such that $u_i x^i r = 0$ for all i .

We split the proof into two cases:

Case 1 $(a_0g(x) = 0)$: If we take

$$f_1(x) := a_1 + a_2 x + \dots + a_m x^{m-1} \text{ and}$$

$$g_1(x) := \delta(b_0) + (\sigma(b_0) + \delta(b_1))x + (\sigma(b_1) + \delta(b_2))x^2 + \dots$$

$$\dots + (\sigma(b_{n-1}) + \delta(b_n))x^n + \sigma(b_n)x^{n+1},$$

then we have $f_1(x)g_1(x) = 0$ by the fact that

$$0 = f(x)g(x) = (a_1x + \dots + a_mx^m)g(x) = (a_1 + a_2x + \dots + a_mx^{m-1})xg(x)$$
$$= f_1(x)xg(x) = f_1(x)g_1(x).$$

Note that $f_1(x) \neq 0 \neq g_1(x)$ because $b_n \neq 0$ implies $\sigma(b_n) \neq 0$, and that $\deg(f_1) < \deg(f)$ and $coeff(f_1) \subseteq N(R)$. Thus, it follows from the inductive assumption that there exists a nonzero $r \in I_{g_1(x)}$ such that $a_i x^{i-1}r = 0$ for all i = 1, ..., m. Therefore, by Lemma 4.1.2, we obtain $a_i x^{i-1}\sigma(r) = 0$ and $a_i x^{i-1}\delta(r) = 0$ for all i, which implies that

$$a_i x^i r = a_i x^{i-1}(xr) = a_i x^{i-1}(\sigma(r)x + \delta(r)) = 0$$
 for all $i = 1, ..., m$.

But from $a_0g(x) = 0$, we obtain $a_ix^i r = 0$ for all $i = 0, \dots, m$. Also, we see $r \in I_{g_1(x)} \subseteq I_{g(x)}$, and therefore we are done.

Case 2 $(a_0g(x) \neq 0)$: Let j be the minimal index satisfying $a_0b_j \neq 0$. By $a_0 \in N(R)$, there exists t > 1 such that $a_0^t = 0$, so that $a_0^tb_j = 0$. Choose $k \ge 1$ such that $a_0^kb_j \neq 0 = a_0^{k+1}b_j$. Then since R is right duo, we can see that there exists $s_1 \in R$ such that $a_0^kb_j = b_js_1 \ (\neq 0)$. Let k_1 be the largest index satisfying $b_{k_1}s_1 \neq 0$. Then we see $0 = b_{k_1+1}s_1 = b_{k_1+2}s_1 = \cdots = b_ns_1$, and hence we have $0 = b_{k_1+1}x^{k_1+1}s_1 = b_{k_1+2}x^{k_1+2}s_1 = \cdots = b_nx^ns_1$ by (σ, δ) -compatibility. Set

$$g_2(x) := (b_0 + b_1 x + \dots + b_{k_1} x^{k_1}) s_1.$$

We observe that $f(x)g_2(x) = 0$ and the leading coefficient of $g_2(x)$ is $b_{k_1}\sigma^{k_1}(s_1)$. But since R is σ -compatible and $b_{k_1}s_1 \neq 0$, we have $b_{k_1}\sigma^{k_1}(s_1) \neq 0$, which implies $g_2(x) \neq 0$. Again, we consider two cases.

We first suppose $a_0g_2(x) = 0$. If we take $g'_2(x) := xg_2(x)$, then we have $f_1(x)g'_2(x) = 0$ and $g'_2(x) \neq 0$ since $g'_2(x) = x(b_0s_1 + \dots + b_{k_1}\sigma^{k_1}(s_1)x^{k_1})$, so that the leading coefficient of $g'_2(x)$ is $\sigma(b_{k_1}\sigma^{k_1}(s_1)) \neq 0$ by σ -compatibility. But since deg $(f_1) < \deg(f)$ and $coeff(f_1) \subseteq N(R)$, by the inductive assumption, there exists a nonzero $r_1 \in I_{g'_2(x)}$ satisfying $a_i x^{i-1}r_1 = 0$ for all $i = 1, \dots, m$. Using the same method as in Case 1, we can get $a_i x^i r_1 = 0$ for all $i = 0, \dots, m$. Further, we observe $r_1 \in I_{g'_2(x)} \subseteq I_{g_2(x)} \subseteq I_{g(x)}$, and hence we are done.

Next, we suppose $a_0g_2(x) \neq 0$. If j_1 is the minimal index satisfying $a_0b_{j_1}x^{j_1}s_1 \neq 0$, then we have $j_1 > j$ since $a_0b_js_1 = a_0^{k+1}b_j = 0$, so that $a_0b_jx^js_1 = 0$ by (σ, δ) -compatibility. Note that $a_0b_{j_1}s_1 \neq 0$ and $a_0^tb_{j_1}s_1 = 0$. Thus, there exists $k'_1 \geq 1$ such that $a_0^{k'_1}b_{j_1}s_1 \neq 0 = a_0^{k'_1+1}b_{j_1}s_1$. By the right duo condition, there exists $s_2 \in R$ satisfying $a_0^{k'_1}(b_{j_1}s_1) = (b_{j_1}s_1)s_2 \ (\neq 0)$. Choose the largest index k_2 such that $b_{k_2}s_1s_2 \neq 0$. Thus, $0 = b_{k_2+1}s_1s_2 = b_{k_2+2}s_1s_2 = \cdots = b_{k_1}s_1s_2$. Since Ris (σ, δ) -compatible, we see $0 = b_{k_2+1}x^{k_2+1}s_1s_2 = b_{k_2+2}x^{k_2+2}s_1s_2 = \cdots = b_{k_1}x^{k_1}s_1s_2$. Take

$$g_3(x) := (b_0 + b_1 x + \dots + b_{k_2} x^{k_2}) s_1 s_2.$$

Similarly, we have $b_{k_2}\sigma^{k_2}(s_1s_2) \neq 0$ from $b_{k_2}s_1s_2 \neq 0$, and hence $g_3(x) \neq 0$ and $f(x)g_3(x) = 0$. Continuing this process a finite number of times, we obtain $p \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfying

$$a_0 g_p(x) = 0$$
, where $g_p(x) := g(x) s_1 s_2 \cdots s_{p-1}$.

Hence, we can see that there exists a nonzero $r_{p-1} \in I_{g(x)}$ such that $a_i x^i r_{p-1} = 0$ for all $i = 0, \ldots, m$. This concludes the proof.

Note that the condition of Theorem 4.1.3 is essential as we can see in the following examples.

Example 4.1.4. (a) Let R be an integral domain. Take

$$S := \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} : a, b \in R \right\}.$$

Then S is right duo because S is commutative. Define an endomorphism σ of S by

$$\sigma \colon \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} a & -b \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix}$$

and define a σ -derivation δ of S by

$$\delta \colon \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} -b & 0 \\ 0 & -b \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then we have S is σ -compatible. Indeed, let

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} c & d \\ 0 & c \end{pmatrix} = 0, \text{ and then } \begin{cases} ac = 0, \\ ad + bc = 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.2)

Since R is a domain and ac = 0, a = 0 or c = 0. If a = 0, we have bc = 0 by (4.2), and hence -ad + bc = 0. For the case of c = 0, we have ad = 0 from (4.2), and thus -ad + bc = 0. Therefore, we get

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \sigma \left(\begin{pmatrix} c & d \\ 0 & c \end{pmatrix} \right) = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} c & -d \\ 0 & c \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The converse of the σ -compatible condition is similar. However, S is not δ -compatible. To see this, $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$, but $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \delta \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \neq \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$.

Hence, S is not (σ, δ) -compatible. Now, let

$$f(x) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} x \text{ and } g(x) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} x \in S[x;\sigma;\delta].$$

We observe that $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in N(S)$ and

$$\begin{split} f(x)g(x) &= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \delta \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \sigma \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \delta \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} x^2 \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \sigma \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} x^2 \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} x + \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} x^2 \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \end{split}$$

but there does not exist any nonzero element $s \in S$ such that $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} x s = 0$. Therefore, S is not (σ, δ) -skew nil-McCoy.

(b) Let R be the free algebra generated by the two noncommuting indeterminates a, b and I be the ideal generated by a^2 and b^2 . Take

$$S := R/I \oplus R/I.$$

Note that the right ideal generated by (a, b) of S contains no element (b, a)(a, b) = (ba, ab), which implies that S is not right duo. Let σ be an endomorphism of S defined by

$$\sigma\colon (a,\,b)\mapsto (b,\,a)$$

and let $\delta = 0_S$. Then S is not σ -compatible. Indeed, (a, b)(a, b) = (0, 0), but

$$(a, b)\sigma((a, b)) = (a, b)(b, a) \neq (0, 0).$$

On the other hand, if we take

$$f(x) = (a, b) + (a, b)x$$
 and $g(x) = (-a, -b) + (b, a)x \in S[x; \sigma; \delta]$

then we have

$$\begin{aligned} f(x)g(x) &= (a, b)(-a, -b) + (a, b)\delta((-a, -b)) \\ &+ \left[(a, b)(b, a) + (a, b)\sigma((-a, -b)) + (a, b)\delta((b, a)) \right] x + \left[(a, b)\sigma((b, a)) \right] x^2 \\ &= \left[(ab, ba) + (a, b)(-b, -a) \right] x + \left[(a, b)(a, b) \right] x^2 \\ &= (0, 0), \end{aligned}$$

but there exists no nonzero element $s \in S$ such that (a, b)s = 0 = ((a, b)x)s, which implies that S is not (σ, δ) -skew nil-McCoy.

4.2 (σ, δ) -skew McCoy property on Jacobson radicals

Next, we focus upon the (σ, δ) -skew McCoy property of the Jacobson radical. We first note that a σ -derivation δ of a ring R does not need to preserve N(R). To see this, if we take S and δ as in Example 4.1.4-(a), then we can see that $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in N(S)$, but $\delta \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \notin N(S)$. However, the result is positive under the (σ, δ) -compatible condition:

Lemma 4.2.1. Let R be a (σ, δ) -compatible ring. Then

$$\delta(N(R)) \subseteq N(R).$$

Proof. Let $a \in N(R)$. Then $a^n = 0$ for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We claim that $\delta(a)^n = 0$. Indeed, since $a^n = 0$, we see

$$0 = \delta(a^{n}) = \delta(a)a^{n-1} + \sigma(a)\delta(a^{n-1}).$$
(4.3)

But by the fact that R is (σ, δ) -compatible and $0 = \sigma(a^n) = \sigma(a)\sigma(a^{n-1})$, we have $\sigma(a)a^{n-1} = 0$, which implies $\sigma(a)\delta(a^{n-1}) = 0$. Then from (4.3), we get

$$\delta(a)a^{n-1} = 0$$

Again, since R is (σ, δ) -compatible, we observe

$$0 = \delta(a)\delta(a^{n-1}) = \delta(a)\left(\delta(a)a^{n-2} + \sigma(a)\delta(a^{n-2})\right)$$

$$(4.4)$$

and

$$\delta(a)a^{n-1} = 0 \Rightarrow \delta(a)\sigma(a^{n-1}) = 0 \Rightarrow \delta(a)\sigma(a)\sigma(a^{n-2}) = 0 \Rightarrow \delta(a)\sigma(a)\delta(a^{n-2}) = 0.$$

Therefore, we obtain $\delta(a)^2 a^{n-2} = 0$ from (4.4). Repeating this argument, we can see $\delta(a)^n = 0$, and hence we are done.

We then prove:

Theorem 4.2.2. Let R be a right duo, local left (or right) artinian ring which is (σ, δ) -compatible. Then the Jacobson radical J(R) is (σ, δ) -skew McCoy.

Proof. We recall that for any left or right artinian ring R, the Jacobson radical J(R) is nilpotent. Now, we first show that

$$\sigma(J(R)) \subseteq J(R) \quad \text{and} \quad \delta(J(R)) \subseteq J(R).$$
 (4.5)

To see this, we note that right duo rings are 2-primal, i.e., P(R) = N(R) (see [31]). Since, in general, $P(R) \subseteq J(R)$ and $J(R) \subseteq N(R)$ from the fact that J(R) is nilpotent, we have J(R) = N(R). But since σ preserves nilpotent elements, we get $\sigma(J(R)) \subseteq J(R)$. Also, by Lemma 4.2.1, the second inclusion of (4.5) is obvious. This shows (4.5). Note that

$$J(R)$$
 is (σ, δ) -compatible (4.6)

from the heredity of (σ, δ) -compatibility. Next, we show that

$$J(R)$$
 is right duo. (4.7)

To see this, let $a, b \in J(R) \setminus \{0\}$. Since R is right duo, we have ab = bd for some $d \in R$. It is enough to prove that $d \in J(R)$. Then we assume to the contrary that $d \notin J(R)$. But since Ris local, we see that J(R) is the set of non-units of R, which implies d is a unit. On the other hand, since J(R) is nilpotent, there exists n > 1 such that $a^n = 0$. Then from ab = bd, we observe $0 = a^n b = a^{n-1}(bd) = \cdots = bd^n$. But since d is a unit, we obtain b = 0, which is a contradiction. This shows (4.7). Therefore, since every element of J(R) is nilpotent, we conclude that J(R) is (σ, δ) -skew McCoy by Theorem 4.1.3 together with (4.5), (4.6) and (4.7). \Box

Corollary 4.2.3. Let R be a (σ, δ) -compatible reversible left (or right) artinian ring. Then J(R) is (σ, δ) -skew McCoy.

Proof. Since the reversible condition is hereditary, J(R) is also reversible. Note that every reversible ring is 2-primal. Then by the same argument as in the proof of Theorem 4.2.2 together with the assertion (4.1), the result follows.

With a ring R and a derivation δ of R, we denote a differential polynomial ring with the usual addition and multiplication defined by $xr = rx + \delta(r)$ for every $r \in R$ by $R[x; \delta]$. We shall say that a ring R is called δ -differential McCoy if for any nonzero two polynomials

$$f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i$$
 and $g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j \in R[x;\delta],$

f(x)g(x) = 0 implies there exists a nonzero element $r \in R$ such that $a_i x^i r = 0$ for all $0 \le i \le m$.

We then have:

Corollary 4.2.4. Let R be a δ -compatible local left (or right) artinian ring with a derivation δ of R. Then J(R) is δ -differential McCoy whenever R is right duo or reversible.

Proof. It is immediate from Theorem 4.2.2 and Corollary 4.2.3.

4.3 Tracial σ -derivations

By Theorem 2.4.1 via [27, Theorem 20], it is known that if for a σ -compatible regular ring R,

$$R \text{ is reversible } \iff R \text{ is } \sigma\text{-skew McCoy.}$$
 (4.8)

In spite of that, we cannot guarantee that when R is a (σ, δ) -compatible regular ring, R is reversible if and only if R is (σ, δ) -skew McCoy. But we may get the result under some constraints. To do so, we introduce a new notion: a σ -derivation δ of R is called *tracial* if δ sends commutators to zero, i.e.,

$$\delta(ab) = \delta(ba)$$
 for all $a, b \in R$.

Clearly, if R is commutative, then every σ -derivation of R is a tracial σ -derivation. However, it is not trivial whether there exists a tracial σ -derivation on a noncommutative ring. The following example shows that there exists such a derivation. **Example 4.3.1.** Let R be a commutative ring and $T_2(R)$ be an upper triangular matrix ring whose elements are in R, i.e.,

$$T_2(R) := \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & c \end{pmatrix} : a, b, c \in R \right\}.$$

Then $T_2(R)$ is clearly a noncommutative ring. Let σ be an endomorphism of $T_2(R)$ defined by

$$\sigma \colon \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & c \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & c \end{pmatrix}$$

and let δ be a σ -derivation of $T_2(R)$ defined by

$$\delta \colon \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & c \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 0 & c-a \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

We claim that δ is tracial. To see this,

and

$$\delta \left(\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & c \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} d & e \\ 0 & f \end{pmatrix} \right) = \delta \left(\begin{pmatrix} ad & ae + bf \\ 0 & cf \end{pmatrix} \right) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & cf - ad \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\delta \left(\begin{pmatrix} d & e \\ 0 & f \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & c \end{pmatrix} \right) = \delta \left(\begin{pmatrix} da & db + ec \\ 0 & fc \end{pmatrix} \right) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & fc - da \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

But since R is commutative, the result follows.

We now generalize the result of (4.8) with a tracial σ -derivation δ :

Theorem 4.3.2. Let R be a (σ, δ) -compatible regular ring with a tracial σ -derivation δ . Then

R is reversible
$$\iff$$
 R is (σ, δ) -skew McCoy.

Proof. (\Rightarrow) : By (4.1), this holds without the regularity condition.

(\Leftarrow): It is similar to the proof of Theorem 2.4.1. Suppose R is (σ, δ) -skew McCoy. Assume to the contrary that R is not reversible, which implies R is not reduced. Thus, there exists a nonzero $a \in R$ such that $a^2 = 0$. Since R is regular, there exists a nonzero $c \in R$ such that a = aca and c = cac. Then by the same method as in Theorem 2.4.1, we take

$$f(x) = \sigma(a) - (1 - ca)x$$
 and $g(x) = ac + \sigma(c)x$.

Then a direct calculation gives $f(x) \neq 0 \neq g(x)$ and

$$f(x)g(x) = \left(\sigma(a)ac - (1 - ca)\delta(ac)\right) + \left(\sigma(a)\sigma(c) - (1 - ca)\sigma(ac) - (1 - ca)\delta(\sigma(c))\right)x$$
(4.9)
$$- (1 - ca)\sigma^{2}(c)x^{2}.$$

Observe:

- (i) Since $a^2 = 0$, and hence $\sigma(a)^2 = 0$, it follows from σ -compatibility that $\sigma(a)a = 0$ and $a\sigma(a) = 0$. Then $\sigma(a)ac = 0$ and $ca\sigma(ac) = 0$;
- (ii) Note that (1 ca)ca = 0. Since R is (σ, δ) -compatible, we have $(1 ca)\delta(ca) = 0$. But since δ is tracial, we have $(1 ca)\delta(ac) = 0$;
- (iii) Since (1 ca)c = 0, we have $(1 ca)\sigma^i(c) = 0$ (i = 0, 1, ...) by σ -compatibility, and hence $(1 ca)\delta(\sigma(c)) = 0$ by δ -compatibility.

Combining (4.9) with the above arguments (i), (ii), and (iii), we get f(x)g(x) = 0. Since R is (σ, δ) -skew McCoy, there exists $0 \neq r \in R$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \sigma(a)r = 0, \\ (1 - ca)xr = 0. \end{cases}$$

$$\tag{4.10}$$

Since $\sigma(a)r = 0$, we have $a\sigma(r) = 0$ by σ -compatibility. Also, from the second equation of (4.10), $(1 - ca)\sigma(r) = 0$. Thus, $\sigma(r) = ca\sigma(r) = 0$, so that r = 0, a contradiction. Therefore, R is reversible. This completes the proof.

4.4 An application to group rings

Now, we conclude with an application of Theorem 4.3.2 to the group ring. Then we consider the group ring with a field and the quaternion group Q_8 . To do so, we write the group ring with a group G and a ring R as R[G]. On the other hand, it was proven [15, Theorem 3.1] that when K is a field of characteristic different from 2,

$$K[Q_8]$$
 is reversible \iff the equation $1 + x^2 + y^2 = 0$ contains no solution in K. (4.11)

Then we may wonder about the following question: when does the group ring $K[Q_8]$ have the McCoy property, more concretely, the (σ, δ) -skew McCoy property?

With the aid of Theorem 4.3.2, we can give an answer to this question:

Corollary 4.4.1. Let K be a field of characteristic 0. If $K[Q_8]$ is (σ, δ) -compatible with a tracial σ -derivation δ , then the following are equivalent:

- (i) $K[Q_8]$ is (σ, δ) -skew McCoy;
- (ii) the equation $1 + x^2 + y^2 = 0$ contains no solution in K.

1

Proof. Note that if $a \in Q_8$, then the order of $a \in \{1, 2, 4\}$. Since K is a field of characteristic 0, we have $1 \cdot 1_K$, $2 \cdot 1_K$, and $4 \cdot 1_K$ are nonzero, and thus they are units in K. Hence, there exist $s_1, s_2, s_4 \in K$ satisfying

$$(1 \cdot 1_K)s_1 = 1_K, \quad (2 \cdot 1_K)s_2 = 1_K, \quad (4 \cdot 1_K)s_4 = 1_K.$$

Then for any $r \in K$, we have

$$\begin{cases} 1 \cdot (s_1 r) = (1 \cdot 1_K) s_1 r = r, \\ 2 \cdot (s_2 r) = (2 \cdot 1_K) s_2 r = r, \\ 4 \cdot (s_4 r) = (4 \cdot 1_K) s_4 r = r. \end{cases}$$

But $s_i r$ (i = 1, 2, 4) is the unique element such that $i \cdot (s_i r) = r$ since the equation $i \cdot t = r$ for some $t \in K$ implies

$$t = 1_K t = (i \cdot s_i)t = s_i(i \cdot t) = s_i r.$$

Therefore, we conclude that

K is uniquely divisible by the orders of elements in
$$Q_8$$
. (4.12)

On the other hand, it is known ([33, Theorem 2]) that for a locally finite group G and a commutative regular ring R which is uniquely divisible by the order of each element in G, the group ring R[G] is regular. Thus, since Q_8 is clearly a locally finite group and we have the assertion (4.12), we obtain $K[Q_8]$ is regular. Therefore, the result follows from Theorem 4.3.2 together with (4.11).

Corollary 4.4.2. If K is a field of characteristic 0, then $K[Q_8]$ is right McCoy if and only if the equation $1 + x^2 + y^2 = 0$ contains no solution in K.

Proof. It follows from Corollary 4.4.1 with $\sigma = I_K$ and $\delta = 0_K$.

Example 4.4.3. Let \mathbb{Q} be the field of rational numbers. Then the characteristic of \mathbb{Q} is clearly 0. Moreover, there does not exist any solution in \mathbb{Q} for the equation $1 + x^2 + y^2 = 0$. Thus, it follows from Corollary 4.4.2 that $Q[Q_8]$ is right McCoy. However, if \mathbb{C} is the field of complex numbers, then $\mathbb{C}[Q_8]$ is not right McCoy because the equation $1 + x^2 + y^2 = 0$ has a solution (x = 0, y = i)in \mathbb{C} .

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] A. M. Abduldaim and S. Chen, α -skew π -McCoy rings, J. Appl. Math. (2013), Art. ID 309392, 7 pp.
- [2] V. Aghapouramin and M. J. Nikmehr, On α-skew McCoy ideals related to a monoid, Cogent Math. Stat. 6(1) (2019), Art. ID 1564169, 9 pp.
- [3] A. Alhevaz, A. Moussavi, and M. Habibi, On rings having McCoy-like conditions, Comm. Algebra 40(4) (2012), 1195-1221.
- [4] S. A. Amitsur, Radicals of polynomial rings, Canadian J. Math. 8 (1956), 355-361.
- [5] S. Annin, Associated primes over skew polynomial rings, Comm. Algebra 30(5) (2002), 2511-2528.
- [6] R. Antoine, Nilpotent elements and Armendariz rings, J. Algebra **319**(8) (2008), 3128-3140.
- [7] E. P. Armendariz, A note on extensions of Baer and P.P.-rings, J. Austral. Math. Soc. 18(4) (1974), 470-473.
- [8] J. Baeck, N. K. Kim, Y. Lee, and P. P. Nielsen, Zero-divisor placement, a condition of Camillo, and the McCoy property, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 224(12) (2020), 106432, 14 pp.
- [9] M. Başer, C. Y. Hong, and T. K. Kwak, On extended reversible rings, Algebra Colloq. 16(1) (2009), 37-48.
- [10] M. Başer, T. K. Kwak, and Y. Lee, The McCoy condition on skew polynomial rings, Comm. Algebra 37(11) (2009), 4026-4037.
- [11] V. Camillo and P. P. Nielsen, McCoy rings and zero-divisors, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 212(3) (2008), 599-615.
- [12] J. Cui and J. Chen, On α -skew McCoy modules, Turkish J. Math. **36**(2) (2012), 217-229.
- [13] M. Ferrero, An introduction to Köthe's conjecture and polynomial rings, *Resenhas* 5(2) (2001), 139-148.
- [14] E. Ghashghaei, M. T. Koşan, M. Namdari, and T. Yildirim, Rings in which every left zerodivisor is also a right zero-divisor and conversely, J. Algebra Appl. 18(5) (2019), 1950096, 14 pp.
- [15] M. Gutan and A. Kisielewicz, Reversible group rings, J. Algebra 279(1) (2004), 280-291.
- [16] M. Habibi, A. Moussavi, and A. Alhevaz, The McCoy condition on Ore extensions, Comm. Algebra 41(1) (2013), 124-141.
- [17] E. Hashemi and A. Moussavi, Polynomial extensions of quasi-Baer rings, Acta Math. Hungar. 107(3) (2005), 207-224.

- [18] Y. Hirano, On annihilator ideals of a polynomial ring over a noncommutative ring, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 168(1) (2002), 45-52.
- [19] C. Y. Hong, N. K. Kim, and T. K. Kwak, On skew Armendariz rings, Comm. Algebra 31(1) (2003), 103-122.
- [20] L. G. Jones and L. Weiner, Advanced Problems and Solutions: Solutions: 4419, Amer. Math. Monthly 59(5) (1952), 336-337.
- [21] I. Kaplansky, Fields and rings, (University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1969).
- [22] A. Khurana and D. Khurana, Annihilators of polynomials, Comm. Algebra 48(1) (2020), 57-62.
- [23] B.-O. Kim, T. K. Kwak, and Y. Lee, On constant zero-divisors of linear polynomials, Comm. Algebra 43(3) (2015), 1098-1117.
- [24] N. K. Kim and Y. Lee, Extensions of reversible rings, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 185(1-3) (2003), 207-223.
- [25] J. Krempa, Logical connections between some open problems concerning nil rings, Fund. Math. 76(2) (1972), 121-130.
- [26] J. Krempa, Some examples of reduced rings, Algebra Colloq. 3(4) (1996), 289-300.
- [27] T. K. Kwak and Y. Lee, Rings over which coefficients of nilpotent polynomials are nilpotent, Internat. J. Algebra Comput. 21(5) (2011), 745-762.
- [28] K. S. Lee, Skew McCoy rings and σ -compatibility, J. Algebra Appl. **23**(2) (2024), 2450031, 13 pp.
- [29] K. S. Lee, On σ -skew Camillo rings, Algebra Colloq. (to appear).
- [30] K. S. Lee, Ore extensions and the McCoy property (preprint, 2023).
- [31] G. Marks, A taxonomy of 2-primal rings, J. Algebra **266**(2) (2003), 494-520.
- [32] N. H. McCoy, Remarks on divisors of zero, Amer. Math. Monthly 49(5) (1942), 286-295.
- [33] J. E. McLaughlin, A note on regular group rings, Michigan Math. J. 5(2) (1958), 127-128.
- [34] P. P. Nielsen, Semi-commutativity and the McCoy condition, J. Algebra 298(1) (2006), 134-141.
- [35] K. Paykan and A. Moussavi, McCoy property and nilpotent elements of skew generalized power series rings, J. Algebra Appl. 16(10) (2017), 1750183, 33 pp.
- [36] K. Paykan and A. Moussavi, The McCoy condition on skew monoid rings, Asian-Eur. J. Math. 10(3) (2017), 1750050, 29 pp.
- [37] M. B. Rege and S. Chhawchharia, Armendariz rings, Proc. Japan Acad. Ser. A Math. Sci. 73(1) (1997), 14-17.
- [38] A. Reyes and C. Rodríguez, The McCoy condition on skew Poincaré-Birkhoff-Witt extensions, Commun. Math. Stat. 9(1) (2021), 1-21.

- [39] G. Shin, Prime ideals and sheaf representation of a pseudo symmetric ring, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 184 (1973), 43-60.
- [40] X. M. Song, X. D. Li, and S. Z. Yang, On skew McCoy rings, J. Math. Res. Exposition 31(2) (2011), 323-329.
- [41] M. Zahiri, R. Mohammadi, A. Alhevaz, and E. Hashemi, Skew generalized power series rings and the McCoy property, *Taiwanese J. Math.* 23(1) (2019), 63-85.
- [42] M. Zahiri, A. Moussavi, and R. Mohammadi, On a skew McCoy ring, Comm. Algebra 47(10) (2019), 4061-4065.